
Why is it important to consider the 
subcontractors? 
 

fairly and accurately disclosed to the insurer the 

Insured can be left high and dry and uninsured. A 

key problem that befalls disputed claims in this area 

concerns the questions that are asked of the Insured 

about subcontractors at the point of sale of the 

policy. The modern process of insurance sales does 

not direct the mind of the Proposer to the mind of the 

underwriter. What does that mean, you may ask? 

 

 
 

The typical Insured relies upon Labour only 

Subcontractors (LoSCs) and Bona fide 

Subcontractors (BfSCs) to sustain its business and 

meet targets and standards. The actions, inactions, 

faults and failures of subcontractors will invariably 

involve the principal (the main contractor) in 

litigation and it is to their insurer that they must turn 

for the protection and cost of legal advice. If the 

circumstances of the subcontractors have not been  
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The Conundrum for insurance practitioners 

Introduction 
 
There are few things in life that are of less interest to a contractor than insurance. Tax 
perhaps? Nevertheless, in today’s highly regulated and litigious environment insurance is an 
absolute necessity for any tradesman or contractor of any size or any kind. That particularly 
includes the cover relevant to the use of subcontractors. In practice, it is very often the 
insurance practitioner that has to bring the importance and value of well-defined insurance to 
the attention of the contractor and hopefully get them to understand it. 
 
Experience of claims involving contractors demonstrates how little time and thought is given 
at the point of sale of the insurance relating to cover in respect of the use of subcontractors. 
One reason for this is perhaps the commoditisation of the modern insurance process which 
tends to focus on the speed and ease of transaction for the customer. This applies equally to 
the broker using a platform that simply requires populating with answers to pre-determined 
questions.  
  
 
 



Fair Presentation to the Prudent Insurer 
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Every insurance practitioner knows the principle of ‘materiality’ in a contract of insurance. Today, the principle 

is founded in the Insurance Act 2015 which requires 

 

 

 
 

3 The duty of fair presentation 

1. Before a contract of insurance is entered into, the insured must make to the insurer a 

fair presentation of the risk. 

2. The duty imposed by subsection (1) is referred to in this Act as “the duty of fair 

presentation”. 

3. A fair presentation of the risk is one— 

(a) which makes the disclosure required by subsection (4), 

(b) which makes that disclosure in a manner which would be reasonably clear and 

accessible to a prudent insurer, and 

(c) in which every material representation as to a matter of fact is substantially 

correct, and every material representation as to a matter of expectation or belief 

is made in good faith. 

4. The disclosure required is as follows, except as provided in subsection (5)— 

(a) disclosure of every material circumstance which the insured knows or ought to 

know, or 

(b) failing that, disclosure which gives the insurer sufficient information to put a 

prudent insurer on notice that it needs to make further enquiries for the purpose 

of revealing those material circumstances. 

5. In the absence of enquiry, subsection (4) does not require the insured to disclose 

a circumstance if— 

(a) it diminishes the risk, 

(b) the insurer knows it, 

(c) the insurer ought to know it, 

(d) the insurer is presumed to know it, or 

(e) it is something as to which the insurer waives information. 

6. Sections 4 to 6 make further provision about the knowledge of the insured and of the 
insurer, and section 7 contains supplementary provision. 

 

Whilst every insurance practitioner might (ought to) be familiar with this principle it is a rare contractor and 

tradesman customer that would be. It is the practice, of course, of most insurance practitioners, to remind the 

customer of their duty to make a fair presentation of the risk. This is typically achieved by a written reminder 

amongst the copious amounts of regulatory paperwork that accompanies the insurance documentation 

process. But does that work in practice?  

 



A very good analogy arose in a recent case. The 

Insured described reading the information 

contained in a packet of drugs recently prescribed 

by his doctor. “I am sure it was very informative, 

but I didn’t understand a word of it. I am not a 

chemist; I am a crane operator. I rely upon my 

doctor to tell me what I need to know, and I do it.”  

So, it is with the majority of insurance customers 

when they read insurance jargon. They might read 

it, but do they really understand it? Experience 

suggests, probably not. 
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Today, the opposite is often true. The 

application process is short and unspecific in 

its quest to fact-find for ‘commercial reasons’. 

It is now more common for insurers to rely 

upon the Act’s obligation of the insured 

(proposer) to disclose: 

 

 

Prudent insurer 

The words underlined in the extract above point 
to the essence of what a court of law will have 

regard to in coming to a decision about 

materiality of information provided, or not 

provided, in accordance with the provisions of 

the Act. 

The term ‘prudent insurer’ is a benchmark used 
in common law. It presumes that an insurer is 

‘prudent’ and that a prudent insurer will have 

asked the right questions to assess the merits of 

the risk. However, this benchmark was set long 

before the arrival of technology, at a time when 

proposal forms were the common currency of 

application for insurance, many of which were 

lengthy and comprehensive in their questions.  

   

 

 

The question of the reasonable customer could 

be:  

“What does a prudent insurer want to know and 
what is “clear and accessible” to him if he doesn’t 

know my job?” 

Therefore, in practice, it is essential to direct the 

mind of the proposer to the things that a ‘prudent 

insurer’ wants to know; and the most reliable way 

of doing that is to ask sufficient questions “in a 

manner which would be reasonably clear and 

accessible to a typical insured” 

 
The Conundrum for insurance 
practitioners 
 
It is fair to assume that a competent insurance 

practitioner will know better than a typical 

customer what a prudent insurer will want to know 

about any particular business or risk. But, if the 

platform or application form does not ask 

questions that are “in a manner which would be 

reasonably clear and accessible to a typical 

insured” what should the insurance practitioner do 

to direct the mind of the proposer to the mind of a 

prudent insurer? 

 

• “every material circumstance which the 

insured knows or ought to know” 

•  “in good faith”  

• “in a manner which would be 

reasonably clear and accessible to a 

prudent insurer,” 
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The insurances arranged for contractors and 

tradespeople are typically of a composite policy 

nature and will usually refer to Labour Only 

Subcontractors and Bona Fide Subcontractors.  

There is a distinct difference between the risk 

presented by the Contractor (the Insured) and the 

risks presented by subcontractors. There is a 

further distinct difference in the risks presented by 

LoSCs and BfSCs. 

The differences in the risks to a prudent insurer 
are concerned partly with the activities and 

hazards they each bring to the Insured’s business 

and partly concern the law applicable to the two 

distinct types of subcontractor. Why is this 

important? 

The insurance protects the Insured for (broadly) 
its physical loss and damage arising from the 

usual perils and for liabilities it incurs in 

connection with the business. Those liabilities can 

stem from failures by subcontractors. As a general 

principle of law it can be said that the principal 

contractor has some responsibility for 

consequences of using a subcontractor.   

The Contractor’s policy, however, does not treat 

subcontractors as an Insured and therefore does 

not protect them at all. However, because it does 

protect the Insured for liabilities it may have as a 

result of the employment or engagement of sub-

contractors the prudent insurer wants to know the 

nature and extent of that risk and also to know 

that, where appropriate, there is insurance behind 

the subcontractor from whom they can claim 

(usually by subrogation) to recover their loss. 

The insurance of contractors and sub-
contractors  
 

It is too easy to overlook the fair presentation of a 
subcontractor's aspect of the Insured’s business 

risk because very often the questions relating to 

subcontractors are indistinct and do not convey 

the importance that the insurer will put on the 

answers to them in the event of a claim. 

This is potentially a complicated matter for a 
tradesman/contractor to fully understand. They 

are neither insurers nor lawyers and so the legal 

and insurance practice niceties of the 

comprehensive insurance policy are typically way 

beyond the comprehension of the Insured and 

must be properly explained to them. 
 

 
The Questions 
 
This makes it all the more important to ensure 

that the mind of the Insured is directed to the 

information that the prudent insurer is needing in 

order to make a fair assessment of the risk. In 

turn, that is best achieved by the clarity and 

relevance of the questions asked. Unfortunately, 

the industry is not always good at asking clear 

and obviously relevant questions and the result 

of this is disputes, at the time of the claim, 

concerning disclosure of material 

facts/circumstances. 
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What does it mean?  
 

The next question might be: 

At the time of applying for insurance: 

How many full time PAYE employees do 

you have? 

How many part time PAYE employees do 
you have?  

Do you have any other kind of 

employee? If so give details of role and 

method of “employment”.  

This would find out whether the proposer 

understands what is meant by ‘employ’ / 

employment’ and may well raise the question by 

the Insured of LoSCs - which is a term insurers 

understand but not necessarily tradespeople/ 

contractors. 

These other employees may be regarded by the 

proposer as ‘other kind of employee’ if they do 

not know and understand the term Labour only 

Subcontractor. 

Once again, the clarity of the question will direct 

the mind of the Insured to the mind of the 

prudent insurer- as intended by the IA2015. 

 

 

Examples: 

The following questions arise from cases 

that have been in dispute with insurers. 

“How many people are working in the 

Business?” 

What does ‘working in the business’ 

mean? Does it mean being a principal or 

owner or director or does it include 

employees. Of all kinds?  

Typically, the owner is a Principal and may 

be a director of their own limited liability 

company.  

Alternatively, there may be more than one 

owner, practising in a formal Partnership 

with each other. 

Alternatively, the owner may trade as a 

sole practitioner entirely without any 

‘corporate’ protection for their personal 

assets. 

A prudent insurer would want to know 

which of these because it makes a 

difference in the event of a liability claim. 

 

The question might instead be: 

Do you trade as: a sole practitioner; or a 

limited liability company; or a partnership; or a 

Limited liability partnership? 

The answer would be “reasonably clear and 

accessible to a prudent insurer,”. 

That still does not answer the question “how 

many people are working in the business?” 
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Labour Only sub-contractors / Bona 
fide Sub-contractors 
 

What is the difference? 

It would be helpful to the process of clarity 

and accessible understanding of this 

complicated issue if the insurance industry 

would agree on a commonly used definition 

of each; and publish it as a definition in 

every relevant insurance contract and 

proposal/ application process. 

The definitions might look like this: 

Labour only sub-contractor 

A person holding themself out as 

having a trade or skill or resource 

required by the Insured for the 

purpose of providing labour, only, 

and engaged by the Insured to 

perform such services for the 

Insured and under the control and 

direction of the Insured as the 

Insured directs from time to time. 

The person so engaged shall for the 

purposes of the engagement and for 

this insurance be treated as an 

employee of the Insured.  

Bona fide Sub-contractors 

An entity (corporate or otherwise) 
holding itself out as having particular 

trade or skill or resource for the 

supply of materials and/or equipment 

and labour which is deployed 

independently of any other 

contractor under its own control and 

direction and is engaged for services 

for a contract price or fee and having 

and maintaining such insurances as 

are required by law and/ or by the 

terms of any contract with its Principal.   

Subject to ratification by the industry and/or 

appropriate legal advisers the clarity of 

standard definitions would go some way to 

establishing common understanding and 

meaning that would facilitate market 

competition in pricing without the risk of the 

definition of coverage scope becoming 

challenged in the event of a contentious claim. 

Meanwhile, in the absence of such a market 

agreement definition the meaning of each type 

of subcontractor requires careful attention to 

ensure what the prudent insurer has in mind is 

consistent with the insured’s understanding. 

 

How many subcontractors? 

The extent to which subcontractors of each 
kind are used by the Insured will affect the 

exposure to risk and of course the numbers 

will vary from year to year and job to job. The 

following questions illustrate an elephant trap 

for the Insured. 
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At the time of applying for insurance: 

Do you employ Labour Only sub-

contractors?  

If so, how many? 

 

Typically, LOSCs are engaged for an hourly, 

daily or weekly rate and are therefore 

engaged under a contract for services as 

distinct from a contract of service. However, 

it is acknowledged by the HMRC that 

LOSCs are treated as employees for the 

purpose of accounting for their tax and 

acknowledged (in law and insurance 

practice) that they are employees for those 

purposes. 

The question above is an open question and  

 

 The Statement of Fact 
 

If, for example, the policy is be based upon a Statement of Fact which contains a statement: 

‘The number of people working in your business does not exceed 10’ 

Then, if on any day of the year there are more than 10 LOSCs working for the Insured the policy is 
technically invalid; because it is a breach of the Insured’s declaration that there are not more than 10. 

As with the proposal question, the statement does not qualify a time frame for ‘10 people working in the 

business’ and therefore it is an unsatisfactory and potentially dangerous statement for the Insured to 

accept.  

 

does not put a time frame on the answer.  

If for example the Insured keeps a ‘black book’ 

of tried and trusted LOSCs, the number of 

which is 76 at the time of proposing for 

insurance, that could be the answer. However, 

the prudent underwriter wants to measure how 

many LOSCs are at risk on any one day of the 

policy year. That of course depends upon the 

size and number of jobs being run by the 

Insured and how many LOSCs are needed on 

any one day. The answer may be impossible to 

predict. 

Some Insureds may keep sophisticated 
accounting records that allow them to trace the 

number of LOSCs on various sites at any one 

time. Others may have to guesstimate.  Why 

does this matter? 
 

The statement ought to say, if it is 

intended:  

‘No more than10 LOSCs are engaged on 

any one day” 

That might be too restricting for the 

Insured and have to be negotiated. 
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Similarly with Bona Fide Subcontractors: BfSCs 

Do you employ Bona Fide Sub-

contractors? 

If so how many? 

Do your payments to Bona Fide 

subcontractors exceed 25% of your 

revenue? 

What is the prudent insurer seeking to find out? 

Firstly, the Insured would engage BfSCs, not 

employ them. The prudent insurer would know 

that but an error in a question can have 

repercussions in a court of law so errors should 

be avoided in favour of correctly worded 

questions. 

How many BfSCs are engaged, when? This 

probably intends to mean ‘How many BfSCs do 

you usually engage in a year?’ In which case 

that qualification should be in the question 

because it better directs the mind of the Insured 

to that of the insurer. 

Similarly, with regard to the revenue question. 

Does this refer to: 

 a period of weeks or months? 

 a calendar year?  

 the insured’s financial year? 

The measure of risk in insurance is commonly 

by monetary reward for work but it is not an 

entirely reliable method of measuring actual 

risk and a prudent insured will enquire of the 

insurer what they are seeking to know about 

the engagement of subcontractors that would 

make a difference to the terms or conditions.

  

 

FLAXMANS VIEW 
 

The typical Contractor/ tradesman insured is 

unaware of the technicalities of insurance and of 

law concerning responsibility for subcontractors. 

Insurers are acutely aware of the problems and the 

hazards that subcontracting brings to the Insured 

and can reasonably be expected to ask questions 

that allow them to assess the merits of the risk. 

Be aware of addressing the answers to proposal 

questions to the ‘prudent insurer’. 

Ask yourself, what are they reasonably seeking to 

know, and assist the Insured in directing its mind to 

that benchmark. 

It would be beneficial to the industry and its 

tradesman / contractor customers to establish a 

benchmark of definition of LoSC and BfSC along 

the lines of the example above. 

Be sure to clearly understand the questions 

concerning the use of subcontractors and exactly 

how the insurer is trying to measure the risk.  

The fewer and the shorter the questions asked of 
the Insured/ proposer, the less importance will be 

attributed to those questions; until a claim arises 

and then it can become a costly, time consuming 

fully-fledged legal investigation at the Insured’s 

expense.  
 



Flaxmans are internationally recognised specialists in Claims Mediation and Resolution for 
Commercial and Business sector clients. 

Necessary and essential to a business, insurance is all too often purchased on price and or without a 
detailed understanding of the cover provided, rather than as a valued and thought through 
requirement, inevitably leading to conflict when a claim is disputed or when insurance is declined. 

Flaxmans negotiate and settle business insurance claims, and act as expert witnesses to the judiciary 
and courts on matters of insurance and broker practice. 

For more information visit www.flaxmanpartners.co.uk 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

This guidance note is intended for information purposes only and is not and does not purport to be legal 
advice. Whilst all care has been taken to ensure the accuracy of the guidance note it is not to be regarded 
as a substitute for specific advice. This guidance note shall not be reproduced in any form for any purpose. 
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